
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT


FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS


TYLER DIVISION

ALBERTO N., et al.,
'

'
Plaintiffs,
'

'
V.
'
Civil Action No. 6:99CV459  


'
DON A. GILBERT, et al.,
'

'
Defendants.
'

PLAINTIFFS= BRIEF IN SUPPORT


OF THEIR MOTION FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION
Plaintiffs, by and through the undersigned counsel, respectfully submit this Brief in Support of their Motion for Class Certification in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.


I.   STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Plaintiffs brought this action for declaratory and injunctive relief, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated individuals, alleging systemic violations of Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. ' 1396 et seq. (Athe Medicaid Act@), the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. ' 12101 et seq. (AADA@), as well as the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Plaintiffs seek certification of the following class:  Aall current and future Medicaid beneficiaries under the age of twenty-one who have disabilities or chronic health conditions and who have been denied or will be denied medically necessary in-home medical services from Texas Medicaid.@

II.   FACTUAL BACKGROUND
Named Plaintiffs are seven children with disabilities and chronic health conditions who have been arbitrarily denied medically necessary in-home medical services by Defendants (hereinafter ATexas Medicaid@).  Each Plaintiff=s specific medical condition and denials of treatment are described in detail in the Statement of Facts found in Plaintiffs= Complaint.
  Plaintiffs do not, however, simply claim that Texas Medicaid erred in determining their specific entitlement to in-home medical services.  Rather, Plaintiffs allege that Texas Medicaid=s decision-making process regarding access to these medically necessary services is arbitrary and capricious.  It is Texas Medicaid=s failure to make these decisions based upon reasonable standards, in conformity with federal requirements, that Plaintiffs seek to redress on their own behalf and on behalf of the thousands of children and young adults who are subjected to the same arbitrary decision-making process used by Texas Medicaid.

These systemic deficiencies are best demonstrated within the context of current federal requirements for Texas Medicaid.  To participate in the Medicaid program and receive federal matching funds, Texas must comply with certain federal requirements including the development of  a State Plan that identifies the broad categories of required and optional medical services included in the Texas Medicaid program.  Under the provisions of the Medicaid Act, Texas's State Plan must provide a number of required services including early and periodic screening, diagnostic and treatment services  (AEPSDT@) for beneficiaries under age twenty-one.  42 U.S.C. ' 1396a; 42 C.F.R. ' 440.210.  In 1990, the Medicaid Act was amended to expand the scope of services available under the EPSDT benefit.  This amendment requires Texas Medicaid to provide Asuch other necessary health care, diagnostic services, treatment, . . . to correct or ameliorate defects and physical and mental illnesses and conditions . . . .@  42 U.S.C. ' 1396d(r)(5).  Under this expanded EPSDT benefit, called Texas Health Steps Comprehensive Care Program, Texas Medicaid is required to provide all optional and required categories of service under the Medicaid Act to beneficiaries under the age of twenty-one when such treatment or service is found to be medically necessary.  42 U.S.C. '' 1396a(a)(10)(A), 1396d(r)(5).

Pursuant to the EPSDT requirements, Texas Medicaid is required to provide exactly the kinds of in-home medical services, including private duty nursing services, personal care services (called Primary Home Care in Texas), and home health services that Plaintiffs and putative class members have been denied.  By failing to administer this program using reasonable standards, all children and young adults seeking these services are subject to the same arbitrary and capricious system which ignores their actual medical needs and denies them the services to which they are entitled.

Texas Medicaid contracts with a private health insuring organization, National Heritage Insurance Company (ANHIC@), to administer part of the state=s Medicaid program, including determining whether Medicaid beneficiaries under the age of twenty-one have a medical need for the in-home services described above.  Texas Medicaid does not require its program administrators to defer to the opinion of the Medicaid beneficiary=s treating health care professionals.  This means that even though the treating physicians for Plaintiffs and putative class members have determined that they require certain medical services, Texas Medicaid allows its administrators to make medical necessity decisions that contradict the opinion of the treating health care professionals.
  

Compounding this problem is the fact that Texas Medicaid does not ensure that these program administrators consistently apply legitimate medical-necessity criteria.  For example, while one program administrator may consider that suctioning a tracheostomy requires the services of a nurse, another administrator may deem that it does not.  Therefore, the same child may be approved or denied medical services simply on the basis of which administrator reviews the request for services.
  Further, decisions to deny medical services to eligible beneficiaries are based on criteria unrelated to the medical needs of children, e.g., on the basis of whether the services will be provided while the parent sleeps or goes to work, in violation of 42 U.S.C. ' 1396a(a)(17).

Additionally, Texas Medicaid unlawfully defines its scope of benefits to exclude those Medicaid beneficiaries with serious and chronic medical needs who need the services most. The Medicaid Act mandates that Texas Medicaid provide all of the medical services that the beneficiary requires, not just acute care services.  However, beneficiaries that require ongoing services for chronic but stable conditions are routinely denied those services because Texas Medicaid deliberately defines its services in such a way as to exclude children in need of long-term care services.  For example, Texas Medicaid will deny private duty nursing services to a child because the child=s condition is Astable,@ even though the child=s medical needs have not changed and they continue to require ongoing medical services.  Texas Medicaid=s other nursing care service, the home-health skilled nursing benefit, will not meet these children=s long-term care needs because that program limits the scope of it services to short-term, acute care needs. 

Further, Texas Medicaid=s Primary Home Care benefit is also defined in such a way as to exclude Medicaid beneficiaries with serious and chronic medical needs.  Primary Home Care, a Medicaid service administered by the Texas Department of Human Services (ATDHS@),  provides assistance in the home for individuals with non-skilled health care needs such as bathing, dressing, grooming, feeding, etc.  Children with disabilities and chronic health conditions are often denied assistance under the Primary Home Care benefit because TDHS characterizes their medical needs as requiring Askilled@ nursing care.  However, these same children are also denied skilled nursing services under the private duty nursing and the home-health skilled nursing benefits administered by the Texas Department of Health (ATDH@) because TDH characterizes their needs as Aunskilled@ and thus, not covered under either of its nursing services benefits.  Ultimately, Plaintiffs and the putative class members are unable to get their medical needs met by any of the programs obligated to provide services to them, despite their critical need for such medical services.

Finally, Texas Medicaid violates the due process rights of the children who are denied these services. The Medicaid Act requires Texas Medicaid to inform Medicaid beneficiaries in writing of their right to request a fair hearing if their claim for benefits is reduced, denied, terminated, or not acted upon with reasonable promptness.  42 U.S.C. ' 1396a(a)(3); 42 C.F.R. ' 431.200, et seq.  This notice must be provided ten days prior to the reduction, denial, or termination of benefits and must include:  1) a statement of what action Texas Medicaid intends to take; 2) the reasons for the intended action; 3)  the specific regulations that support, or the change in Federal or State law that requires, the action; 4) an explanation of the individual=s right to request an evidentiary hearing, if one is available, or a State agency hearing; 5) in cases of an action based on a change in law, the circumstances under which a hearing will be granted; and, 6) an explanation of the circumstances under which Medicaid is continued if a hearing is requested.  Despite these clear requirements, Texas Medicaid fails to provide notice of reductions, denials, or terminations of services that conforms with federal regulations.  These notices fail to state the reasons for the decision, the specific regulations that supported (or the change in Federal or state law that required) the action, and an explanation of the circumstances under which Medicaid services can be continued pending appeal.  Further, when Texas Medicaid denies a medical service to a Medicaid beneficiary on the basis that the service is not a covered benefit of the Texas Medicaid program, Texas Medicaid does not provide the Medicaid beneficiary with notice of the denial or an opportunity for a fair hearing to appeal the denial.  Again, these procedural deficiencies are system-wide and affect the Plaintiffs and putative class members alike.


III.   ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES
When the party seeking class certification satisfies the prerequisites of Rule 23(a)
 and demonstrates that the action is maintainable under Rule 23 (b)(1), (2) or (3), the class should be certified.  Chisolm v. Jindal, 1998 WL 92272, *5 (E.D. La. 1998) citing Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 2d ' 1775.  In this case, Plaintiffs seek class certification under Rule 23(b)(2) because Defendants have acted or failed to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, making injunctive and declaratory relief appropriate.  Civil rights cases such as the present case are typical examples of Rule (23)(b) class actions and numerous courts have certified classes of Medicaid beneficiaries challenging the operation of state EPSDT programs.  See Mitchell v. Johnson, 701 F. 2d 337 (5th Cir. 1983); Skubel v. Sullivan, 925 F. Supp. 930 (D. Conn. 1996) aff=d, Skubel v. Fuoroli, 113 F.3d 330 (2d. Cir. 1997); Philadelphia Welfare Rights Org. v. Shapp, 602 F.2d 1114 (3rd Cir. 1979); Bond v. Stanton, 372 F. Supp. 872 (N.D. Ind.), aff=d, 504 F.2d 1246 (7th Cir.1974); Chisolm, 1998 WL 92272 (E.D. La. 1998); Salazar v. District of Columbia, 954 F. Supp. 278 (D. D.C. 1996) Sanders v. Lewis, 1995 WL 228308 (S.D. W.Va. 1995); Thompson v. Raiford, 1993 WL 497232 (N.D. Tex. 1993); J.K. v. Dillenberg, 836 F. Supp. 694 (D. Ariz. 1993); Wisconsin Welfare Rights Org. v. Newgent, 433 F. Supp. 204 (E.D. Wis. 1977).

A.
The Class Is So Numerous That Joinder Is Impracticable
According to Texas Medicaid, thousands of children are eligible for services under its Comprehensive Care Program.
  AThe exact number of potential members of the class need not be shown, especially where the relief sought is injunctive and declaratory in nature.@ Ledet v. Fischer, 548 F. Supp. 775, 781-82 (M.D. La. 1982).  Instead, Plaintiffs need only Ademonstrate some evidence or reasonable estimate of the number of purported class members.@  Zeidman v. J. Ray McDermott & Co., Inc., 651 F.2d 1030, 1038 (5th Cir. 1981).  It is beyond dispute that a class with thousands satisfies the numerosity requirement.  Indeed, classes as small as 48 persons have been held proper in this Circuit.  Jones v. Diamond, 519 F.2d 1090 (5th Cir. 1975); Zeidman, 651 F.2d 1030.

Numerosity does not turn on naming or reaching a particular number of class members. Philips v. Joint Legislative Comm., 637 F.2d 1014, 1022 (5th Cir. 1981); Garcia v. Gloor, 618 F.2d 264, 267 (5th Cir. 1980).   Rather, the touchstone of numerosity is whether joinder of all members of the class is Aimpracticable,@ considering not only class size but also Aall other relevant factors.@  Id.  AThe party seeking class maintenance need only show that it is difficult or inconvenient to join all members of the class.@  Zeidman, 651 F.2d at 1038.  While there is no exhaustive list of factors, some factors the Fifth Circuit has considered Ainclude, for example, the geographical dispersion of the class, the ease with which class members may be identified, [and] the nature of the action.@  Id.  

In the instant case, the class members are thousands of Medicaid beneficiaries who live throughout Texas, making joinder geographically impracticable.  Garcia, 618 F.2d at 267 (APracticability of joinder depends on . . . [the] geographic dispersion of the class@); Ibarra v. Texas Employment Comm=n, 598 F. Supp. 104 (E.D. Tex., 1984) (500 member class certified where class members Adispersed throughout Texas@) rev=d on other grounds, 823 F.2d 873 (5th Cir. 1987).  Joinder is also impracticable because the class contains not only current Medicaid beneficiaries, but also future ones, the identity of which cannot be presently determined.  Where A[t]he alleged class also includes unnamed, unknown future@ class members who will allegedly be harmed by the defendant=s conduct, the Fifth Circuit has held that joinder is Acertainly impracticable.@  Jack v. American Linen Supply Co., 498 F.2d 122, 124 (5th Cir. 1974).  See also Phillips, 637 F.2d 1014, 1022 (AThe alleged class includes future and deterred applicants, necessarily unidentifiable.  In such a case the requirement of Rule 23(a)(1) is clearly met, for joinder of unknown individuals is certainly impracticable.@) (internal quotations omitted); Ibarra, 598 F. Supp. at 108 (A[T]he proposed class contains prospective members, who may be harmed by defendants' policies in the future.  By definition, the identities of these members are unknown. Joinder of unknown individuals is certainly impracticable.@) (internal quotations and citations omitted).  

Finally, the nature of the action requires class certification because many of the class members are indigent, all are under the age of 21 and all have significant disabilities or chronic health conditions, making joinder impracticable. Chisholm, 1998 WL 92272 at *3 (joinder of the class members Awould be impracticable, especially in light of the fact that Medicaid recipients are indigent and these particular Medicaid recipients are all under the age of 21").

2. There Are Questions of Law or Fact Common to the Class

A[T]he threshold for commonality is not high,@ Applewhite v. Reichhold Chemicals, Inc., 67 F.3d 571, 573 (5th Cir. 1995), and many of the arguments supporting commonality will also support the typicality requirement.  Forbush v. J.C. Penney Co., Inc., 994 F.2d 1101, 1106 (5th Cir. 1993); see also Shipes v. Trinity Indus., 987 F.2d 311, 316 (5th Cir. 1993).  AThe commonality test is met when there is at least one issue, the resolution of which will affect all or a significant number of the putative class members.@  Forbush, 994 F.2d at 1106; Lightbourn v. County of El Paso, 118 F.3d 421, 426 (5th Cir. 1997).  The present case meets this minimal requirement because the determination of whether Texas Medicaid operates its programs in violation of federal law will affect all putative class members.  Again, Plaintiffs allege systemic failures on the part of Defendants and the remedy they seek will change the way in which Texas Medicaid operates its programs, impacting all beneficiaries who seek services from Texas Medicaid.  In a case asserting certification of a class very similar to the class being sought in the present case, the district court easily found that the commonality test was met, stating, A[t]he commonality asserted is, in essence, that all class members deal with the same system and seek to have that system so changed that it complies with federal EPSDT requirements.@  Chisholm, 1998 WL 92272 at *4.

That each putative class member may ultimately obtain a different array of medical services does not defeat commonality.  Id.  For example, in Lightbourn, the Fifth Circuit affirmed the certification of a class of all Texas citizens of voting age who are blind or mobility‑impaired, and the fact that the accommodations necessary to allow each class member access to voting would vary was not an issue and did not prevent the court from finding that the plaintiffs satisfied the commonality requirement.  See Lightbourn, 118 F.3d at 426.   The court noted that allegations of Adiscriminatory practices generally meet the commonality requirement.@ Id., citing Shipes, 987 F.2d at 316 (Aallegations of similar discriminatory employment practices, such as the use of entirely subjective personnel processes that operate to discriminate, satisfy the commonality and typicality requirements of Rule 23(a).@).

Similarly, in Forbush, the Fifth Circuit held that the commonality requirement was satisfied by addressing whether defendant violated federal law for the class as a whole, not by examining the precise remedy for each particular class member.  AThe interests and claims of the various plaintiffs need not be identical . . . [t]he necessity for even somewhat complex individual calculations does not supply a basis for concluding that [plaintiff] has not met the commonality requirement.@  Forbush, 994 F.2d at 1106.  Because Plaintiffs and putative class members share questions of law and fact, this case meets the requirements for commonality.

3. Plaintiffs= Claims Are Typical of the Claims of the Class

AThe test for typicality, like commonality, is not demanding.@  Lightbourn, 118 F.3d at 426, citing Forbush, 994 F.2d at 1106.  ATypicality focuses on the similarity between the named plaintiffs' legal and remedial theories and the legal and remedial theories of those whom they purport to represent.@  Lightbourn 118 F.3d at 424.  The typicality requirement is satisfied when the named plaintiffs advance legal and remedial theories similar to those that would be advanced by class members if they were pursuing parallel actions.  Id.   However, Athe two sets of claims need not be completely co‑extensive or identical.@  Ledet, 548 F. Supp. at 782.

Each Named Plaintiff has been subjected to a State Medicaid system that fails to adhere to reasonable medical standards, fails to provide medical services that meet their needs, and fails to provide required due process protections.  Named Plaintiffs claim that these failures stem from Texas Medicaid=s violation of the Medicaid Act, the ADA, and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  Were any class members to Aproceed in a parallel action, they would advance legal and remedial theories similar, if not identical, to those advanced by the named plaintiffs.@  Lightbourn, 118 F.3d at 426;  see also Forbush, 994 F.2d 1101 (typicality found when plaintiff challenged defendant=s general practice of overestimating social security benefits).

4. The Representative Parties Will Fairly and Adequately Protect the Interests of the Class

Adequate representation rests primarily on three factors: (1) the representative must have an interest in common with the unnamed class members, (2) the representative must not have interests adverse to the members of the class, and (3) the representative must appear to vigorously prosecute those interests through qualified counsel.  East Texas Motor Freight Sys. Inc. v. Rodriguez, 431 U.S. 395, 403  (1977).  AThe adequacy of representation requirement tends to merge with the commonality and typicality requirement, since an adequate representative's interest and injury must be aligned with the class, and also factors in competency of counsel and conflicts of class counsel.@ Amchem Products, Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 626 n. 20 (1997); Chisholm, 1998 WL 92272 at *5. 

Named Plaintiffs have common, nonadverse interests with the class members in having a Medicaid system that complies with federal law.   As described above, Named Plaintiffs have the same claims and seek the same remedies for the class as a whole. 

Named Plaintiffs are represented by Advocacy, Inc., which is the organization authorized to protect and advocate for the legal rights of  Texans with disabilities pursuant to the Developmentally Disabled Assistance and Bill of Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. ' 6012(a).   As described in the attached affidavits, Plaintiffs= attorneys are experienced in class action litigation on behalf of individuals with disabilities as well as in the areas of Medicaid law and ADA law.
 Counsel are well qualified to handle this action and will prosecute it vigorously on behalf the class.

Here, the named Plaintiffs share the same interest (access to EPSDT care and services), share the same grievance (dissatisfaction with the State's EPSDT system) and seek the same relief (systemic change by injunction) for the class as a whole. Plaintiffs are represented by a team of disability rights advocates who work in the public interest and who possess a wealth of experience and credentials in this area of the law, e.g., public benefits law, Medicaid law, class action representation. On these grounds the court concludes that named Plaintiffs have met the adequacy of representation criteria of Rule 23(a).

Chisolm, 1998 WL 92272 at * 5.  The reasoning of the court in Chisolm applies equally to the present case and, therefore, Plaintiffs satisfy the requirement that they will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.

E.
Plaintiffs Satisfy the Requirements of Rule 23(b)(2) Because Defendants Have Acted or Refused to Act on Grounds Generally Applicable to the Class, and Final Injunctive Relief or Declaratory Relief Is Appropriate with Respect to the Class as a Whole.
Plaintiffs allege that Texas Medicaid has Aacted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class@ because its policies and practices operate to deny Plaintiffs and putative class members medical services to which they are entitled.  In such cases, a Rule 23(b)(2) class action is Aan effective weapon for an across the board attack against systemic abuse.@  Jones, 519 F.2d at 1100.  Moreover, the present case is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief and the Fifth Circuit has held that A[t]he rule is clear that claims seeking injunctive or declaratory relief are appropriate for (b)(2) class certification.@  Allison v. Citgo Petroleum Corp., 151 F.3d 402, 411 (5th Cir. 1998).  See also Wright Miller & Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 2d ' 1775 (AIf the rule 23(a) prerequisites have been met and injunctive or declaratory relief has been requested, the action usually should be allowed to proceed under subdivision (b)(2)@).  The appropriateness of 23(b)(2) class certification is demonstrated by the numerous courts that have certified classes of Medicaid beneficiaries seeking injunctive relief regarding EPSDT requirements.  See, Mitchell, 701 F.2d 337; Skubel, 925 F. Supp. 930 aff=d, Skubel v. Fuoroli, 113 F.3d 330; Philadelphia Welfare Rights Org., 602 F.2d 1114; Bond, 372 F. Supp. 872, aff=d, 504 F.2d 1246; Chisolm, 1998 WL 92272; Salazar, 954 F. Supp. 278; Sanders, 1995 WL 228308; Thompson, 1993 WL 497232; J.K., 836 F. Supp. 694; Wisconsin Welfare Rights Org., 433 F. Supp. 204.

Additionally, Aclass certification safeguards the individual interests, provides them a hearing and the possibility for relief where these individuals might not otherwise be able to assert their own interests.@  Chisolm, 1998 WL 92272 at *5; Glover v. Crestwood Lake Section 1 Holding Corp., 746 F. Supp. 301, 305 (S.D. N.Y. 1996).


CONCLUSION
For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant Plaintiffs' Motion For Class Certification and certify the following class:  Aall current and future Medicaid beneficiaries under the age of twenty-one who have disabilities or chronic health conditions and who have been denied or will be denied medically necessary in-home medical services from Texas Medicaid.@
DATED: March 21, 2000
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Maryann Overath

� Attached, for the Court=s convenience, as Exhibit A.  


� NHIC staff rarely, if ever, meet or speak with the patient whose request for services they are reviewing.  Nevertheless, NHIC staff regularly deny or reduce the amount of medical services ordered by the treating health care professionals who have actually seen the patient.


� Additionally, on average, NHIC staff only spend approximately two-to-three minutes reviewing and deciding requests for medical services.


� Rather than making determinations on the basis of whether the child has a medical need for services, Texas Medicaid administrators will deny medical services to children whose need for services happens to occur during the time that a parent is in the home sleeping or is out of the home at work.  In other words, a child with a medical need for services can be denied those services not because of his or her lack of medical need but because Texas Medicaid makes determinations based on whether the parent should forego sleep, work, or caring for their other children in order to provide the medical services themselves.  Obviously, the parent=s ability to provide the services has nothing to do with the medical needs of the child and is not a medical criterion upon which medical necessity determinations can be based.


� Those prerequisites are: A(1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable, (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class, (3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class, and (4) the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.@  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a).


� See Exhibit B, TDH and TDHS estimates.


�  See Exhibit C.





